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SUMMARY OF THE
INTRODUCTION AND MEMOIRS

OF

THE CHIEFS OF GRANT.
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Tne BARONY OF STRATHERRICK IN INVERNESS, THE ORIGINAL COUNTRY OF
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Sorial lifo in Strathorrick @ forfeiture of Simon Lord Lovat ¢ his successor, . . . xxvi
INVERALLAN IN STRATHSPEY.

The tirat territory acquired by the Grants in Strathapey @ previoua history of Inverallan, | . xxix
Elizaheth Grant, Lady of Steatherrick : her descondants : lawsuita with the Hays of Mayne, . XYy
Coneluion of the Jitigation : purchase of Inverallan : the parish of that name, . . . xxxiii

Tur BARONY or I'REvCng.

Sir Danean Grant the first recorded possessor of this barony : manner of acquisition not known, . xxxv

Early history of barony : resignation and new charter of that barony and other lands, 1193, . xxxvi
Lands comprehended in the harony : valuation : payments by tenants: castle of Freuchice, . XXxviii
Frenchie known alro an Ballachastell : now known an Castle Crant : deseription of Canstle Crant, | x|

The houpitaliticn of Castle Grant : visited by the * Water Poet,” 1618, and Robert Burna, 1787, | xliii

The BARONY AND Lonrusuip oF GLENCARNIE, IN THE PARISH OF DUTHIL AND
COUNTY OF INVERNESS.
The namoe Glencarnic, wheneo derived : the number of cairns in the territory : traditiona of the
dintrict, . . . . . . . . . . . . xlvi
* Bigla's Castle : " the old Lords of Glencarnic not Comyns : their descent from the Earls of Strathern, xlviii
History of the barony: Gilhert Inst Lord of Glencarnie : his danghter Matilda, mother to Sir

Dunean Geant, . . . . . . . . . . 1
Glenearnie in the earldom of Moray : Sir Duncan Grant receiven it in lease from the Crown, 1478, Iii
Fen.charler of tho lands to John Grant of Frenchie in 1498 : question as to rental, 1630, . . liv

Lands comnprehended in the lordship of Glencarnie or Duthil : church of Duthil : ancient carvings, ete., lvi
Vol. 1, o
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THE CHIEFS OF GRANT.

MEMOIRS.

I.—SIR LAURENCE LE GRANT, Suerirr or INVERNESS. 1258-1266.

Origin of the Family of Graut : alleged descent from Wadin @ theories of Caclic and Danish origin,

Laurcnce and Robert le (irant the first of the name in Scotland : Gregory le Grant : Norman origin,

Urants in the Roll of Battle Abbey : William le Grant of East Bridgeford in Nottingham, . .

Albreda Bysct his wifo : connection of the families of Grant and Byset: John Bysct lord of the
Aird and founder of Beauly Priory, 1231,

Probability that the (irants were brought to Scotland from Lnglnnd by \Vn.lter Byset on lun returu
from England in 1249,

Laurence and Robert le Grant in Scotl:md Wlllmm le Gnnt n.ttends ng Alexunder tho Thml
to Scotland in 1256,

The Girants in Moray : Robert le (-r:mt receives fmm John l‘r-v.t thc lands of (,lonm'machc. .

Laurence le Grant made Sherilf of Tnverness prior to 1263 : embassy of Reginald of Roxburgh, 1266,

Laurenco lo Grant Bailie of Inverchoich, in the thanage of Alyth and sherifflowm of DPerth, .

Poascssion of Stratherrick by the Grants : armorial bearings of the Grants and Byscts : Lovat scals:
premunption that the three (rowna wero the cognisance of the Lords of Stratherrick, .

1I.—JOIIN LE GRANT, ¢IRST oF INVERALLAN, IN STRATHSPEY. 12006-r. 1325

Laurence le Girant said to have two sons, John and Robert le Grant : little known of their history,

Connection with the Comyns : battle of Dunbar, 1296 : John and Robert le Girant taken prisoncra :
eonflned in CGloncester, and Bristol Castlen: released on condition of serving King Edward
against France, . . . . . . .

John Comyn of Radenoch se ('nrlty fnr John nml IH nl-ort le Grant: Patrick Grant eastellan of John
Comyn's cantlo of Clunio : conneetion of the Grants with the Comyns and Grahams of Lovat, .

Sir Patrick Graham's charter of the third of Altyre, to whichJohn le Grant is a witness, 13151325,

The witnewsen in that eharter all conneeted with the llym-ln $dolin Jo Geanb o won or granduon of
Launrence, Sheriff of Inverness, .

Joln lo (iraut in 1316 acquires Inverallan, t'lm frnt posscasion of the Gr'mt.n in Strntlmpn ,

John Grant who was present at the battle of Halidon Jillin 1333 : two John Grantys in sucecssion,

Other (irants on record : Alan (Andrew) Grant at Halidon : Maurice Grant, Sheriff of Inverness, ,

IIT.—1. PATRICK LE GRANT, Loip oF STRATIHERRICK AND INVERALLAN.
1345—1362.

‘I'ho son or direct descendant of John le Grant of Inverallan, in possession of Stratherrick,

Witness to a charter by John Randolph, Earl of Moray, 1345: as Lord of Stratherrick he grnnt!
part of Inverallan to William Pylche and Elizabeth le Grant, 1351-1362,

Patrick le (irant, son of John le Grant of Inverallan : the traditions regarding him crroncons,

Stratherrick given by his grand-daughter, Elizabeth le Grant, to her son, James Mackintosh, 1419,

John Sercs, her grandson, 1433 : Patrick le Grant's son probably Malcolm Grant: he and Gilbert
of Glencarnic present in a Court of Alexander Stewart, the *“ Wolf of Badenach,” 1380,

Flizabeth le Girant probably the wife of James Mackintosh of Rothiemurchus, killed in 1411,

Stratherrick passes from the posscssion of the Grants to the Frascrs of Lovat, between 1419 and 1431,

William Pylche, hushand of Elizabeth le Grant: lands of Inverallan and others resigned by their
dcscendants, Elizabeth and Marjory Pylche, in favour of Alexander Hay of Mayne, 1482,

vii
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viii SUMMARY OF THE MEMOIRS OF

11.—2. SIR JOIIN LE GRANT, KNnigut, CASTELLAN oF DARNAWAY. ELIZABETH

HIS WIFE. 1333—c. 1370.

Uncertainty of his parentage : may have been the son of John le Grant, first of Inverallan,

John and Alan (or Andrew) Grant in the train of the Earl of Moray at Halidon Hill, 1333: The
Earl bestows the lands of Dunphail with the custody of the tower of Darnaway, on John le
Grant, 1346, .

Charter by King Robert the %cond of the same la.ndl to Thomu le (xrn.nt son of Jolm, H7I .

Probability that Sir John lo Grant was a descendant or collateral relative of John Grant, first of
Inverallan : Coulmony the first pussession of the Grants in Moray, close to Dunphail, . .

Sir John le Grant created a knight, 1357 : safe-conducts, 1359 : in the service of the Earl of Mar,

Witness to a charter at Kildrummy, 1357, along with Sir Laurence Gelybrand,

Margaret Gelybrand, widow of Sir Laurcnce, resigns the lands of Barmuckity and nthers in fu.vour
of certain heirs of entail of Glencarnie, 1367 : Margaret, widow of a Laird of Glencarnie,

Nir Laurence sells the marriage of Gilbert of Glencarnie to Duncan of Athole : raid on Glencarnie,

Safe-conducts to Sir John le Grant and Elizabeth his wife : his lands of Easter Gordon in the Merse,

Nir John deccased before 1371 : Thomas his son receives the office of castellan of Darnawnay,

IV.—ROBERT GRANT, THE AMBASSADOR. 1380-1394.

Parcntage uncertain : receives a safe-conduct from King Edward the Third to pass through Eng-
land, 1380 : also for a duel with Thomas de I’ Strother at Lilliattecross, 1380,

Reccives share of the 40,000 francs brought to Scotland by John de Vienne, Adiniral of France, 385

Ambassador to France with John Pcebles, bishop of Dunkeld : truce concluded, 1389, ) .
‘T'reaty signed, 1391 : pension of £20 yearly from the grent customs of Edinburgh, 1302-1394,

PAOE

36
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40
41
42

43
44
45
406

48

51
52

V.—MATILDA oF GLENCARNIE, AND JOHN GRANT ROY, lIER REPUTED HUSBAND.

e, 1410-c. 1434,

Tho traditions regarding an allianco of the Grants and Comyns shown to be incorreet,

First mention of Matilda of Qlencarnie in a Precept from Chancery, dated 31at Jannary 1434,
Duncan lo Grant, her son and heir: heir of his grandfather, Gilhert of CGlenenrie, 1469,

The fnmily of Glenearnio not Comyna s teaditions of the Comyns in Moray : Bigla's key stone, (tc o
Thoe Lords of Glencarnie descended from the ancient Celtio Earlw of Steathern,

Story of Gibhon Mor Cnnin and the young Laird of Grant, and other traditions,

Kinrara manuseript implies that John Grant oy was the hushand of Matilidn of Gleneaenie,
Matilda of Glencarnie died before 1434 : Marjory Lude, lady of half the barony of Frenehie,

VI.—-Sir DUNCAN GRANT, KNIGHT, FIRST CALLED OoF Frevenie.  MURIEL
MACKINTOSIH (or MAcKINTOSH), 118 WiFE,  1434=14R5,

Retonred heir to his mother in 1434 : witness to a contract by the Lord of Gordon in 1442,
Ho in firnt denigned of Freachie in 1453 : Marjory Tado posseasses the half of Freuchie, 1473,
Sir Walter Stewart prevents Dunean Cirant possessing Ballindalloch : Sir Dunean Ceant kniphted,
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Death of Gilbert of (ilencarnie, 1438 : Glencarnie leased by the Crown to Sir Duncan Grant, 1478,

He executes a charter of the lands of Sheriffston to James Douglas of Pittendreich, 1495, . .

Arbitrates between the Mackintoshes and Bose of Kilravock as to the lands of Urqubart and
Glenmoriston, 1479, . . . . . . . . .

Muriel Mackintosh his wife: died 1485, . . . . . . .

VIL—JOIN GRANT, Youxcer or Freveme,  1ITH=11R82,

Consents to charter of Sheriffston, 1475 : arbiter in dispute as to Urquhart and Glenmoriston, 1479,
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HE Family of Grant of Grant have been for ages the recognised
chiefs of their numerous and powerful clan,—a clan which have been

long distinguished for devoted loyalty and attachment to their lawful
sovereigns. StratLspey is the country of the Grants. So much were
they identified with the great Strath and its magnificent river, that King
Charles the Second desired to confer a peerage on the distinguished chief
of the Grants, Jumes Grant of Freuchie, under the title of EAnri or
StraTisrEy and Lorp GranT or Frreucmhir. While the patent of the
peerage was in preparation, the sudden death of the chief defeated the
intention of the King, but the honour was not lost to the family ; it was
only deferred. After the lapse of nearly two centuries, in the course of
which the power and influence of the family had been greatly increased
by their aequisition of the dignities and estates of the s of Seafield,
Her Majesty Queen Victoria conferred the title of BAroN StraTHSPEY OF
Strartusrry, as a peerage of the United Kingdom, upon the late lamented
chief of the Grants, the lincal male descendant of the intended Rl of
Strathspey. No more appropriate title could have been bestowed. Tt was
hailed with delight by the whole members of the Grant Clan as an honour
done to their chief and themselves, and on that auspicious oceasion thoe
hearts of the men of Strathspey were stirred as only Iighland hearts can be.
Ho it was who first resolved to cury out the design ol preserving an
enduring record of his funily and their muniments, o owaa pleased Lo
commit to me the task of editing the work, in which during its progress
he took much interest, and it will always bo matter of regret thal it was
not completed in his lifetime.  This regret is somewhat lessened hy the
recollection that two of the volumes,—those embracing the Charters and
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X viii DEATH OF THE EARL OF SEAFIELD.

Correspondence,—were so far completed as to allow of their being submitted
to him for inspection several months before his death. All his inter-
course with me regarding the work was most pleasant and agreeable, and
his large collections of muniments were from the first intrusted to me
with the most generous confidence.

According to the strictly chronological order of the history of the
Grant Family, from their earliest time to the present, the memoir of the
late chief falls to be given towards the close of this volume. But as he
was the originator of this work, even at the risk of anticipating what may
there be said, it is deemed suitable to pay a tribute to his memory here.
Amidst the many panegyrics which his lamented death called forth, we
prefer to quote one which could not be swayed by the influence of private
friendship. The deep devotion of the people of Strathspey to their late chief,
who was regarded more as their father and friend than simply as their
landlord, was very strikingly shown at that time. With the deepening
sense of a real and heavy bereavement, genuine sorrow and dismay took
possession of cvery heart, and at the closing scene grief alone responded to
grief. A stranger, recently settled in the country, has collected very
impartially and recorded very happily what he said was the voice of the
whole Gaclic-speaking people in the country, in the following remarks :—

The burial which took place at Duthil on Saturday was very dilferent fr\m those at
which profusion of undertaker's pomp forms the chief attraction. Tord Seaficld’s death,
hefore attaining the threeseore years and ten, produced a feeling of mourning, as il for a
dear friend, among all parties and elasses throughout the counties of the North with which
he was moro immediately connected by property and residence.  'We have received—and we
doubt not our contemporaries have also received—many communications seeking to give
expression to the deep and general sense of loss and bereavement,  Elsewhere, too, the
tributes of commemoration due to one whose life has been heneficial to his country amd
honourable to himself have bheen freely bestowed by the organs of public opinion. Not
only the northern counties, where he lived, worked, and was best known, but broad
Seotland feels with sorvow that a great chief and noble Scotsman has departed from our
midst. On Saturday the spontancous sorrow of overflowing hearts, which neither hirth nor
station can purchase by all the wealth of the world, surrounded his ancestral place of
sepulture in his native Steathspey,  From widely sepneated distriets, notwithstanding the
extremely inclement weather, hundreds upon hundreds of men who represented  burghs,
clachans, lonely hill-sides, and distant glens, gathered there to pay to a chief whom they
hanoured, and & man whom they loved, the last tribute of carthly reverence.
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TRIBUTE TO IS MEMORY. xix

What was the secret of Lord Seafield’s great popularity 1 We believe it was simple,
honest, unostentatious fulfilment of the duties of his high station. IIe exercised his trust,
not so much as a man who could do whatever scemed good in his own eyes, but as a steward
responsible for all his actions.  He was not a secker for populavity, and he probably never
knew during his earthly career how much beloved he was, and what a princely and more
than prineely influence he had secured in his corner of the world.  Ile was an unambitions
man, of retiving disposition, who never sought ephemeral landations by the means which the
wealthy can command.  Although he had strong conviclions, ho did not mingle_in the con-
flicts of political life. As heir of the Ogilvies, and hereditary chief of the Cirants, birth
opened to him the chance of a public carcer. That was not his line; but he gained,
unsonght, & fame as hright as the highest political suceess coulid have securad, by the noble
use he made of the opportunities which the accident of birth had conferred upon him. He
resided on his estates almost all the year round.  He knew most of his people and their
conditions, and they all knew him and understood his character.  He planted, drained,
fencod, and farmed as well as the most skilful of his tenants.  Among the breeders of
Highland cattle, his name became a houschold word. In all relations of lifo he was good
and triue.  1le was loyal to the principles of his Ilouse and the history of his Clan, Ile
was an clder of the National Church—a Presbyterian of Presbyterians—which counted for
much in a country where there is too often for the general well-being and union of elasses a
religious scparation that divides ranks and sympathies. Ile was a just landlord. 1is
people possessed their minds and holdings in peace and sceurity.  The landlord right was
tempered by the fine old tie of chiefship and clanishness ; and under no cirenmstanees did
Lord Seaficld himself desire to worry thoso under him hy fyrn.uniuul harshness, or whims of
temper and purpose. /

Just and  kindly-human, but far from lax and carcless relations with  tenants and
dependants 3 faithful discharge of the dutiex of a high position ; the patriarehal fecling
which beeame the chief of an ancient elan; Scottish community of faith and sentiments with
his fellow-Scotsmen—such were the causes which gave the departed peer a deeper hold in the
heart of his country than in his modesty perhaps he even imagined, but which his death
fully revealed.  1e enjoyed home-life in the country ; he disliked London, amd for him the
distractions of human life, or the pursuits of vain pleasures, had no allurements, e
enjoyed rural avoeations, and formed associations with the people whose well heing was
bound up with his own.  The wild charms of his Highland glens spoke to him in language
that went to his heart.  lle had not the tongue-gifts of his ancestor the Bard, hut ho
inherited his mind and susceptibilities.  So it happened that in the slow course of thirty
busy years ho grew into a great prince in his own conntry, and that le never knew of
it. The people who say that our land laws are all wrong, and wish to make a clean
sweep of them, attack particularly large estates. It is, however, only on such estates that
there is full scope for the virtues which Lord Seaficll illustrated, and it is pleasing to
believe these are still to he found among many of the old familics which eonneet the
nincteenth century with the distant past.'

! «Northern Chronicle,” Wednesday, March 2, 1881,
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XX THE ‘‘ HIGHLAND KING.”

Such in the eyes of his clan and countrymen generally was the late
Earl of Seaficld.

Ludovick Grant of Grant, the son and successor of James Grant, whom
King Charles the Second had designed to make Earl of Strathspey,
occupied, as chief of the clan, an influential position in the north of
Scotland during his tenure of the Grant estates, extending over the long
period of more than half a century. It is recorded that Ludovick took
exception to certain measures proposed while James Duke of York was
Commissioner to the Parliament of Scotland, and in the Legislutive
Assembly on one occasion desired that his protest might be recorded,
on which the Duke of York remarked that the wishes of his Highland
Majesty would be attended to. Laird Ludovick was afterwards popularly
known as the * Highland King,” and the designation was extended to
his successors.

The famous Simon Fraser, Lord Lovat, married Margaret Grant, the
youngest daughter of the ‘ Highland King.” In this way Lovat became
the brother-in-law of Sir James Grant of Grant, the son of Ludovick, and
the uncle of Sir Ludovick Grant, the son of Sir James. Lovat was in
constant correspondence with these relatives, and without anticipating
his numerons and characteristic letters, printed in the second volume
of this work, we need only notice here his frequent allusions to the regal
majesty of the Highland chief. He styles Sir James Grant * the Highland
King.”?
Grant, and Lady Margaret Ogilvie, eldest danghter of James, fifth Farl of
Findlater and Seaficld, Tovat was profuse in his congratulations. Amidst
many other things he says in a letter to the bridegroom :—“May the

On the occasion of the marriage of Sir James’s son, Ludovick

offspring of your body and hers be great, numerous, and flourishing, and
may they reign in Strathspey, and in your other territories, as long as
there is a stone subsisting in Castle Grant, or a drop of water in the river
of Spey.”?  In letters of a later date, when the offspring of the union
had increased, his Lordship alludes to “ the good Lady Margaret, and the
young Pallatine of Strathspey and the Infanta,”® the designation Palatine
of Strathspey being occasionally diversified with that of Prince of Strath-

' Vol i, of this work, p. 299, 2 Jlid, p. 336, 3 1hid, p. 369,
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THE TWO CRAIGELLACHIES. xxi

spey ; in fact, the allusion to the children of Sir Ludovick Grant as princes
and infantas of Strathspey became habitual with Lord Lovat.

Too much importance will not be attached to the letters of Simon
Lord Lovat by those who are acquainted with his peculiar style. It was
his wont to indulge in expressions of admiration, and even adulation,
towards such of his friends as he particularly fancied. But, making allow-
ance for his partiality to special friends or near relations, his letters
strengthen the evidence of the prominence and power of the chiefs of Grant
in the Highlands, and especially in the wide district of Strathspey, which
had long been peopled so exclusively by the clan, that no landowner held
possessions there who did not bear the name of Grant. When, about the
middle of last century, Baron Grant of Elchies proposed to sell his estate in
Strathspey, Sir Ludovick Grant was anxious to secure it, either for himself
or one of the clan. In a letter to his law-agent he wrote that he wished to
preserve all the lands lying between the two Craigellachies in the name of
Grant. These two rocky eminences are conspicuous objects in Strathspey.
The upper or western Craigellachie forms the dividing boundary between
Badenoch and Strathspey, and was the rendezvous for the Girant clan in
time of war. The lower Craigellachie stands at the confluence of the
Fiddich with the Spey, and forms the point of contact of the four parishes
of Aberlour, Knockando, Rothes, and Boharm.  The upper Craigellachie is
generally supposed to have furnished the crest of the Grant family, which
is a mountain in flames. When the chief wished the clan to assemble, fires
were kindled on both Craigellachies, hence the name, “Rock of alarwm.”
The war-cry of the clan was Stand Fast, Craigellachie, and their armorial
motto is the same. So much were the Grants identified with these crags,
that Lord Lovat frequently commenced his letters to hig bhrother-in law,
the Laird of Grant, “ My dear Craigellachie,” and Sir James Grant himself,
in writing to his brother- -law, Colonel Grant of Ballindalloch, occasionally
adopted “Chaigellachie” wi hissignature.? Tn “A Cry from Craigellachie,” the
accomplished author, Principal Shairp of St. Andrews, describes his feelings on
hin first journoy by the Highland Railway which sweeps past. Craigolluchio :

v Val. i, of this wark, pp. 377, 391, 392, 396, 397, 399, 407,
2 Letters in Ballindalloch Charter-cheat,
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Grisly storm-resounding Badenoch,
With grey boulders scattered o'er,
And cairns of forgotten battles,
Is a wilderness no more.

Ha! wo start the ancient silence,
Thundering down the long incline,

On Strathspey and Rothiemurchus
Forests of primeval pine.

Boar of Badenoch ! Sow of Athole !
Hill by hill behind we cast

Rock and craig and moorland reeling,
Scarce Craigellachie stands fast.

Although the Grant family have been so long connected with Strath-
spey, it was not the original country of the Grants. Their first known
territorial designation was Lords of Stratherrick, from a district in the county
of Inverness, now part of the Lovat estates. At an early period they
acquired the lands of Inverallan in Strathspey, and about the middle and end
of the fifteenth century added to their possessions Freuchie and Glencarnie.!
The title of Grants of Freuchie, with the occasional local designation of
Lairds of Grant, continued in the family for ten generations, from 1450 to
1694, when Ludovick Geant, the “ Tighland King,” having obtained a
Crown charter erecting his lauds into the regulity of Grant, dropped the
territorial designation of Freuchie, and adopted that of Grant of Grant,
by which his descendants continued to he known until they succeeded to
the title and dignity of Il of Seafield.

The personal history of the successive chicfs of the Family of Grant,
contained in their memoirs, will be rendered more intelligible, as well as
more interesting, by a short account of the lands and baronies which the
Grants from time to time acquired in Stratherrick and Strathspey, the
lutter of theso districts, as we have said, having been long popularly known
as the CouNTRY OF THE GRANTS,

' Vol. iii. of this work, pp. 22, 41, 43,
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THE BARONY OF STRATHERRICK, IN INVERNESS,

THE OKRIGINAL COUNTRY OF THE GRANTS.

The earliest known territorial designation which way hereditary in the
family of Grant was that of Lord of Stratherrick. At a somewhat earlier
date than the first appearance of the Grants as Lords of Stratherrick,
Robert. le Grant, who, if not a brother, was at least a contemporary of
Sir Laurence le Grant, obtained from John Prat! a charter of the lands
of Clonmanache,® concerning which there had been some dispute between
the granter’s father and Robert le Grant. The writ bears that the land
shall be held of the granter and his heirs for a silver merk instead of the
usual services, and the gift may have been the result of a compromise.®
The charter is undated, but was probably made about the year 1258,
when Robert le Grant, Sir Laurence, and two of the witnesses, Sir John
Byset and Sir William, son of Augustine, all appear in an agreement with
the Bishop of Moray in that year.* Clonmanache, or Coulmony, is thus the
first territory of which we have certain and authentic information as the:
possession of a member of the Grant family. But from it Robert le Grant
appears to have assumed no territorial designation, and no succession has
been traced from him.

Stratherrick, on the other hand, supplied to the UGrant family their
earliest territorial designation, and one which, for a short time at
least, was hereditary. Tatrick le Grant, the grandson of Sir Lawrence,
Sheriff of Inverness, was the first of the family whose name is associated
with the district of Stratherrick, and in a charter granted by him ahout
the year 1357 he is designed “dominus de Stratharthoe,” or Lord of
Stratherrick.®  Whether Sir Laurence le Grant or his son, the father of
Patrick, held these lands can only be matter of conjecture, although.

' He was probably the knight whose sister Mar- 3 Val, iii. of this work, p. 5.

jory married Uilbert of Glenkerny, younger,  [Vol.

iii. of this work, p. G.] 4 Registrun Moraviense, pp. 133-135.
? Rupposed to be Coulmony, now part of the

entate of Lethen, in the eounty of Nairn, & Vol iii. of this work, p. 10.
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from the high position of the former as Sheriff of Inverness, it is very
probable that he did. The son of Patrick, whose Christian name has not
been positively ascertained, may also, like his father, have taken the style
of Lord of Stratherrick, and the grand-daughter of Patrick, Elizabeth
le Grant, who inherited the lands, was known and designed as Lady of
Stratherrick.!

Stratherrick, also called Strathfarigag, from the river which drains
the more northerly portion of the valley, is a wide elevated district in the
parish of Boleskine and Abertarf, and county of Inverness. It stretches
along the south-eastern shore of Loch Ness, parallel with, but separated
from it by a narrow ridge of hilly country which screens the valley
from the loch. The Strath is watered towards the south by another
stream called the Fechlin, which, issuing from Loch Killin, unites in
Stratherrick with somo other considerable waters, and then changes its
name to the River Foyers. It is upon this river that the far-fumed and
often described Fall of Foyers is situated, just where the water turns to
pierce the rocky ridge and scek rest in the bosom of Loch Ness.

The lands and barony of Stratherrick, so far as can be traced, have heen
inherited by three families successively, the Bysets, the Grants, and their
present possessors the Frasers. The Bysets are known to have held the
territory from about the year 1242 ;? a century later it wag in the possession
of the Grants, and appears to have passed from them before 1420 to the
fumily of Fraser of Lovat. At this time these lands pertained to the
earldom of Moray, and continued to do so probably until about the year
1539, when with other baronies and lands they were incorporated by King
James the Fifth into the barony of Lovat, in favour of Iugh Lord Fraser
of Lovat.® The paucity of information regarding the history of Stratherrick
during the period of ity possession by the Bysets and the Grants, and its
acquisition by the Frasers, is fully accounted for by the fact that the
documents which could have instructed its history, perished in the flunes
of war.  On 20th September 1430, King James the First. confirmed  to

! Vol. iii. of this work, p. 16. 3 Charter of Erection of Barony of Lovat, dated

26th March 1539, Registrum Magni Sigilli, Lih.
2 Rymer's Faddern, vol, i, o 617, xavi. No, 204,
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Hugh Fraser of Lovat and his leirs, certain lands mentioned in a retour
in which he is served heir to his deceased brother, Alexander Fraser of
Lovat. The lands were the third part of the barony of the Aird, and the
barony of Abertarf, with its pertinents, viz., Stratherrick, the third part of
the lands of Glenelg and other lands in the barony of Abertarf and
regality of Moray, all held of the Eml of Moray for ward and relief, and at
this time in the hands of the Crown on account of the recent death of
James Earl of Moray. The charter concludes with the following clause :—
And because it hath been fully and sufficiently established by the said
Hugh Fraser that his charters, made upon the said lands, were burned,
consumed, and destroyed during the wars of the Islesmen while in rebel-
lion against the King, therefore the King ratifies to the said Hugh and his
heirs the said lands with their pertinents, in the same form in which the
said Hugh or his predecessors held them from the Earl of Moray, saving
our service, ote.

Although here and in other charters described as a pertinent of the
barony of Abertarf, there is cvidence that Stratherrick was itself a barony.
It is so styled in the charter of erection of the barony of Lovat already
referred to, and in other writs. In the middle of the sixteenth century,
when untimely bereavements had thrown upon the estate the support of
two dowagers, Janet Gray, the widow of Thomas, third Lord Fraser of
Lovat, and Janct Ross, the widow of Hugh, fourth Lord, the two ladies,
unable to agree about their respective terces, had recourse to the Sherill
Court of Inverness, and the Sheriff decreed (1st July 1552) that their
claims should be apportioned on the baronies of Abertarf, Stratherrick,
Dalcors, the “auld heritage of the Aird,” Strathglay, and the conquest
lands of Halyburton.? l

So long and so closely have the Lovat family been identified with
Stratherrick, that the district beeame known as the Country of the Ifrasers.
The Grants are said to have left traces of their occupation of the valley in
tho names of several of the places, such as Gartinore, Gartbeg, Dellachaple,
and Ballindnlloch, Tt it is more probable that, sueh names ave rather loeal

¥ Registrum Magni Sigilli, vol. ii. No. 179.
? Sherifl-Court Book of Inverness, 1543-1594, H.M. General Register House, Edinburgh.

VvOr. I o
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than tribal, and the fact that places in Strathspey bear similar designations
only suggests that places having common or similar geographical features
received similar names, and not that the Grants transferred the names of
their holdings in Stratherrick to those of Strathspey. A manuscript history
of the family of Lovat asserts that in the fifteenth century there were many
Girants, some of them belonging to the Clanchiaran, living in Strather-
rick, but if this were 80, they must soon afterwards have given place to the
followers of Lovat. It is recorded that in 1544 tho race of Lovat was nearly
annihilated in the sanguinary battle of Blar-na-leine, fought at the east
end of Loch Lochy between the Clan Macdonald and the Frasers of Lovat,
who were returning from an expedition to the Hebrides, whither they had
gone to restore the heir of the Clanranald family to his estates. Both sides
stripped to their shirts (whence the name of the battle), and the Frasers,
who were inferior in numbers to their opponents, were all slain with the
exception of one man, who escaped wounded.! Fortunately for the clan the
hereaved wives of the Frasers, to the number of eighty, it is alleged, gave
birth to posthumous sons, who, in due time, grew up and re-established the
name. So far as Stratherrick was concerned, the retainers of Lovat are
said to have suffered severely, and the valley is reported to have been
peopled principally by the descendants of two cadets of Fraser of Lovat,
one of whom settled at Foyers and the other at Loch Farraline, giving rise
to two tribes, the Mac-mhic-ulliams or Foyer's tribe, and the Slioch-ion-
mhic-Alisters, or Farraline'’s tribe.?

As illustrative of social life in Stratherrick till about the close of
the seventeenth century, it may be said that the louses of the wadsetters
were composed of cupple trees, the walls and thatch made up of sod and
divot, but each containing a spacious apartment containing a large table,
where the fanily and dependants daily ate their two mealy, the family
occupying onc end of the table, and the dependants the other. The
sons of these wadsetters were trained in agriculture and arms, and any
other pursuit was reckoned a disgrace.  The land was divided into davochs
or half davochs, one or more of which was held by the wadsetter, and he
in turn subset his holding in quarter or plough lands, or move frequently in

U Gregory's Highlands and Iules, p, 162, 2 O1d Statistical Acconnt, vol. xx, pp. 21, 22,
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auchten parts, and sometimes even in smaller portions, to cottars. Per-
taining to Stratherrick there were extensive shealings or grazings on the
hills towards Badenoch, and to these the inhabitants were wont to migrate
in summer with their whole families and cattle, returning again to their
farms when the winter began to set in.!

The lands of Stratherrick, after being in possession of the Frasors of
Lovat for more than three hundred years, were in 1746 forfeitod, along
with the other Lovat estates, on the attainder of Simon Lord Lovat
for his participation in the rebellion of 1745, and retained by the Crown
for nezu‘lf thirty years. They were then restored to General Simon
Fraser, eldest son of the forfeited Lord, and Margaret Grant, daughter
of Ludovick Grant of Grant, the “ Highland King.” General Fraser died
in 1782, and was succeeded by his brother, Archibald Fraser of Lovat, who,
in the year 1803, endowed seven Sunday charity schools, one of which was
to be erected in Stratherrick.

In the printed letter in which he intimates this endowment to the
neighbouring gentlemen, he says :—

“1 wish for moral principle, and stipulate the New Testament shall be
a school book; and the Old Testament, fit only for enlarged minds and
more advanced experience and periods of life, shall not be used in the
Sunday school until o proper excerpt, containing the history of the
Creation, the faith of Abraham, the piety of Job, and the enlightened
reflections of the Eeclesinstes, applicable to Christianity, shall, with the
Psalms of David selected, form the compilation.”

A copy of the letter was sent by Archibald Fraser of Lovat to Lady
Grant of Grant, with an accompanying epistle, which shows that the writer
had evidently inherited much of the racy hannour of his father,  Arvchibadd
Fraser's letter is as follows : —

Inverness, 2d October 1803,

Lndy Grant will, T am persuaded, receive the enclosed  paper with
that complacencye which, tho’it is the prerogative of her sex in general,
is with her so peculiar an ormument.,

The weather hreaks ; for the next six months a good castle, o lurge

1 Old Statistical Account, vol. xx. pp. 23, 24.
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room, a large family, clean hearts, chearfull minds, and roaring peat fires
wou'd be my choice. My preparations are for a winter campaign, meal,
leather bags, and boys to carry them, for lack of provender for garrons.
And a little more than I want, when Sir James orders me to march, to
give away, and gett the blessings of the people instead of their curses for
plundering them for our money : moreover, a store of onions, salt, tobacco,
Scots snuff, whiskey, and bagpipes for our people, and for the first Consal
(Bonaparte) a single figg.

I hope your Ladyship’s forgivnes for coming of before breakfast, and
begging my respects to the Miss Grants and all the family, have the
honor to be

Your most obedient humble servant,
A. Fraser, LLovaT.

Although the Grants parted with Stratherrick in 1419, and thus for a
time severed their connection with Loch Ness, they reappeared a century
later on its opposite shore as the owners of the large district of Urquhart,
and Glenmoriston. Meanwhile the family had fixed their abode in Strath-
spey, whither we hasten to trace their possessions.
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INVERALLAN IN STRATHSPEY.

The lands of Inverallan were among the earliest possessions of the
Grant family, and the first which they acquired in Strathspey. They were
possessed in the reign of King Robert the Bruce by John le Grant, and
have ever since been inherited by the Grants, with one interruption caused
by the lands having been provided to co-heiresses. The dispute which arose
afterwards, respecting the possession of the lands, lasted for upwards of
two centuries. Tt is fully instructed by documents in the Grant Charter-
chest, and the facts are of interest for understanding the history of this
early inheritance of the Grants in Strathspey.

As a separate estate, the lands of Inverallan were composed of three
davochs. * They were situated on the west side of the river Spey, and
extended several miles up the river from the vicinity of Castle Grant,  In
these three davochs are comprised the lands of Kildreke or Dreggie, Glen-
beg, Craggan, and Gaich. They appear to have formed part of the territory
of the De Moravias in the carly part of the thirteenth century, as helween
tho yenrs 1223 and 1242 Walter de Moravia granted the chareh of Tnver-
allan to Andvew, Bishop of Moray, for the upholding of the eathedral
church of Elgin,' but about 1288 they appear as the possession off Augustine,
the son of the late Robert of Augnstine, who styles himself Lord of
“ Inueralian in Strathspe.”?  In 1316, John of Inverallan, son to Gilbert,
brother of Augustine, disponed the lands to John le Grant, the father of
Patrick le Grant, Lord of Stratherrick, to whom reference has already been
made.  Patrick le Grant inherited them, and bestowed one-half of them,
tho davoeh land of Dregeie and the half davoeh land of Glenbeg, with his
danghter Elizabeth le Grant, about the year 1357, upon William Pylehe, a
burgess of Inverness.®

The son of William Pylche and Elizabeth le Grant was William Pylehe,

' Regintrim Moraviense, p. 111 a frinr of Kinloss, John, and another, whoso name
2 [hid. p. 142, A person of tho name of Augastine  wan cither Sir Willinn or Sir Walter.  {/hid. pp.
appears in the time of Andrew de Moravia, Bishop 66, 86, 129, 135.]

of Moray, as his scrvitor, le was probably the
father of Robert and other three mons, Benedict, 3 Vol. iii. of this work, p. 10.
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Lord of Culcabock and Inverallan. He married a lady named Elizabeth
Pylche, and both he and his wife died before 1453, his widow having before
her death resigned into the hands of Archibald Douglas, Earl of Moray and
Master of Douglas, her lands of the half-town of Inverallan, half-town of Glen-
beg, and half town of Dreggie, within the earldom of Moray and regality
of Ballokhill, in favour of John Hay of Mayne. The Lord of Culcabock and
Inverallan had two daughters, Elizabeth and Marjory Pylche, who were
infeft in the lands of Gaich, Dreggic, and Glenbeg, prior to the yewr 1430,
and they again, in their widowhood, in 1482, resigned in the hands of the
King, in favour of Alexander Hay of Mayne, their lands of Inverallan,
Gaich, Glenbeg, Craggan, and Dreggice, with the lands of Culcabock,
Knockintennaill, and the Hauch, which lands, it is said, had belonged to
them hereditarily. These two heiresses, however, reserved the liferents of
their respective portions of the lands.

But Elizabeth Grant, Lady of Stratherrick, the grand-daughter of
Patrick le Grant, after disponing, in 1419, her lands of Stratherrick to her
son, James Mackintosh, in 1433 conveyed all her other lands and posses-
sions to her grandson, John Seres. She was heiress to her grandfather,
Patrick le Grant, and as he had only bestowed half of the lands of Inver-
allan upon his daughter Elizabeth, on her marviage with William Pylehe,
the other half appears to have descended to John Seres. But from this
point, owing probably to the sub-division amongst co-heiresses, the history
of the lordship of Inverallan is one of contention.

The documents which narrate the transfer of these lands from the
Pylche ladies to the Iays of Mayne, indicate that the whole of the lands
of Invernllan were in the possession of these co-heiresses, and were by
them made over to the IHays in 1482, In 1433 John Seres hecame the
heir of Elizabeth Ie Grant, and in 1464 he obtained sentence before the
Lords Auditors against Angus Gibbonson, for unjustly spoiling, ocenpying,
and detaining the lands of Inverallan and Gaich to his injuty, and ordering
theso lands and their profits to be restored to him.  Tn 1482 Patrick Seres,
son of the late John Seres, was infeft in the lands of Tnverallan, on o
precept by Willian Crawford of Federeth, ealled the superior of the lands,
Patrick Seres shortly thereafter resigned them in favour of John Grant, son
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and heir apparent of Duncan Grant of Freuchie, who was then infoft in the
lands on o precept from the superior.  John Grant died on 30th August 1482,
and on a precept from the same superior, his son, John Grant, was infeft in
the lands in the following year. On the other hand, Alexander 1wy of
Mayne received the lands after their resignation by Elizabeth and Marjory
Pylche, from King Jumes the Third, by charter dated 25th October 1482,
and was infeft on the 30th of the same month by James Dunbar of Cumnock,
Sheniff of Inverness.

The question was thus one both of suporiority and possession.  The
claim of superiority Iny between the Crown and the Crawfords of Federoth,
that of possession between the Grants of Freuchie and the lHays of
Mayne.  For a time there is no appearance of a collision having taken
place. But in 1511, after the death of Alexander Hay of Mayne, his heir
not having entered to the lands within the specified tine, the non-entry
of the lands was conferred by the Crown on a person named Robort
Douglas.  Douglas found John Grant of Freuchie in possession of certain
of the lands, and pursued him for the rents and dues thereof before the
Lords of Council.  In the action the Crown laid claim to the maills of half
the Jands of Gaich, half the lands of Glenbeg, and half the lands of Dreggie,
but their Lordships decided in favour of John Grant of Freuchie on the
production by him of charter and sasine of the lands,

In the later contest with the Hays of Mayne, the Grant family were,
so far ag legal proceedings were concerned, unsuccessful, but the contention
was prolonged through several generations.  During that period, on account
of successive deaths among the Hays, and also their impecuniosity, the lands
frequently fell into the wardship of the Crown, and the ward was gifted to
various individuals.  One of these was Alexander Tlay of Faster Kennet,
Clerk to the Privy Couneil, and Clerk-Register, who assigned his gift. in 1566
to John Grant of Ifrenchie, then in actual possession of the lands of Inver-
allan ng tenant. The Clerk-Register was related to William Tlay of Mayne,
heir to the lands of Inverallan, and interested himself in getting him estab-
lished in them. AL this time, too, Williun Crawford of Federeth ehallenged
the right of superiority to the lands cluimed by the Crown, but his claim
was rejected.  From the repeated mention of these lands in the Exchequer
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Rolls during this period it is ascertained that their estimated annual value
was £26, 13s. 4d. Scots.

In 1583 John Grant, fourth Laird of Freuchie, entered into negotia-
tions with William Ilay of Mayne, with a view to settle all disputes by a
purchase of the lands, and it was agreed between them that the Laird of
Freuchie should get the lands of Inverallan. In return, and for the
“extinctione of pley, trouble, or expense,” he was to infeft the Laird of
Mayne in the lands of Arndilly, pay the sum of three thousand merks,
and, as the donator and assignee of the Laird of Mayne’s maritagium,
release him to marry whomsoever he pleased.! To this arrangement the
consent of Alexander Hay, Lord Clerk-Register, was necessary, and for this
the Laird of Freuchic wrote him a few days after the conclusion of the
agreement.’

A year or two elapsed before the final terms were arranged. The
Laird of Mayne married in the interval, and as his spouse was Jean Grant,
a daughter of one of the principal scions of the faumily, Patrick Grant of
Ballindalloch,® it may be supposed that the choice was not altogether his
own, though it probably was approved by all parties concerned for the sake
of insuring the interment of old feuds, and procuring a stable foundation
for present and future amity. During the same period the old FLaird of
Irenchie died, and the completion of the acquisition of Tnverallan was
devolved on his grandson and successor, John Grant, the fifth Laird.  On
26th June 1587 a contract was entered into for the absolute sale of the
lands of Inverallan, Glenbeg, Gaich, Craggan, and Dreggie, to John Grant
of reuchie, for six thousaind merks. A charter of the Linds was ganted
the same day in his favour by the Clerk-Register as fiar, and William Iay
of Mayne as liferenter. It states that they were to be held of the Crown
in feo and heritage for cver, and a charter of confirmation of the grant
way obtained from King James the Sixth on 1Hh February 1592, who,
in the same document, confirmed another charter of the adjucent lunds of
Auchnarrows, Downan, and Port.'  These Lnds, with those of Invernllan,

Voriginnl Hends of Condencendenes at Castle  ander Hay of EFaster Kennet, Clork-Regintor, with
Grant, 2 Vol ii. of this work, p. 26, tho names of two aons of the Intter, M, John Hay

3 Original Contract of Marringe, dated 1585, and  and Danicl Hay ag witnesses, at Castle Grant,
aubseribed by William Hay of Mayne, and Alex- 4 Original Charter at Castle Grant,
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were shortly afterwards included in a new incorporation of the harony of
Cromdale.. Shortly before his death, this Laird also satisfied William Hay
of Mayne in respect of his claim for the ejection of his grandfather, by the
Laird’s grandfather, from his lands of Mayne.!

These arrangements ought to have terminated, and to all appearance
did terminate, the unhappy and prolonged litigaution betwixt the Grants
and the Hays of Mayne respecting Inverallan. But the contest was after-
wards unexpectedly re-opened by James Hay, the eldest son of the
marriage of William Hay of Mayne and Jean Grant of Ballindalloch.
On her marriage Jean Grant had received, as a liferent portion, the rents
of the davoch land of Dreggie, and the half davoch land of Gaich, and, in
1625, after the death of her husband, she sold her liferent rights in these
lands to her eldest son.? Owing, apparently, to the want of some necessary
precaution in making up the titles, James Hay was able to lay claim to
the possession of the lands with some measure of success, and, in 1653,
James, the seventh Laird of Freuchie, grandson of the Laird who had
hought the lands from William Hay, found it his interest to compromise
the matter, rather than renew the litigation.  Ile accordingly agreed with
James Tay, then designed “in Auchroisk,” the Hays having censed to be
connected with Mayne, that the latter should dispone to him all right and
title which he had to the barony of Glenbeg, or any part thereof, cither
as heir to his father or other predecessors, or by his mother'’s liferent,
deliver over all his evidents of the lands, and discharge all claims connected
thercwith ; and also, that he should procure the renunciation of Auchroisk
by the Clerks of Auchroisk, and denude himself of his rights therein in the
Laird’s favour. On his part, James Grant of Freuchie was to pay to
James Hay £800 Scots, out of which Grisel Hay, sister to James Hay,
and spouse to John Caddell, was to have her liferent portion, other four
hundred merks on the performance of the conditions stipulated, and to
give him a four years’ tack of the lands of Cummingston, an estate on
the Mulben property in Banffshire.* This agreement effectually brought to

1 Original Diacharge, dated 17th November 1621, at Castle Grant.
? Original Disposition at Castle Grant, Another son, P'atrick Hay, is a witness,
3 Original Agreement at Castle Grant.

VOIL. T. ¢



Digitized by GOOS[Q



XXXiv THE PARISH AND CHURCH OF INVERALLAN.

a termination this disagreeable and unprofitable petty feud, and since
this settlement, the lands have remained peacefully in possession of tho
(irants.

The stream which flows down from Tobair-Alline, where it takes
ita rise, throngh Glenbeg, and which from that circumstance is now called
the (ilenbeg Burn,! evidently, in earlier days, bore the name of the Allan,
and gave the designation of Inverallan to the district which surrounds the
lower part of its conrse. At its confluence with the Spey theve appenrs to
have been, in former days, a strong fort, whence, probably,. the carlier
Lords of Inverallan bore sway over their little territory, and dispensed
feudal justice to their dependants.

The parish of Inverallan embraced a larger portion of the territory of
Strathspey than was contained in the lands known as Inverallan. Among
other lands in the parish were Tullochgorm, Curr, Clurie, Auchnahandet,
part, at least, of the three Finlargs, and Freuchie itself, some of which
fall to be treated in other connections, as portions of the Grant possessions.
The original parish of Inverallan was united to the adjacent parish of
(‘romdale, both in the presbytery of Abernethy. A new chwrch was built
in the town of Grantown, and was generally designed and known us the
chureh of Grantown. But the preshbytery of Abernethy, on 26th March
1816, appointed the church to be called the church of Inverallan. On an
application by the late Earl of Seafield, and others interested, the Clourt
of Teinds, on 24th May 1869, erected the district assigned to the church
of Inverallan into a parish groad suere, disjoining it and the district from
the parish of Cromdale. In an action of transportation at the instance of
the present Earl of Seatield and others interested, the new manse which
had been erccted for Inverallan was, by decree of the Court of Teinds,
dated 3d July 1882, ordained to be the manse of the qrocd sacra parish
of Inverallan in time coming, and the old manse was authorised to be sold.
The ercction of the now parish of Inverallm was o grent conveniencee,
praticulnrly to the inhabitants of Grantown, who were far removed from
the parish chureh of Cromdale.

! 1t is also sometimes called the Craggan Burn and the Inverallan Burn.
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THE BARONY OF FREUCHIE.

The name of this barony of Freuchie, variously spelled Frewche,
Fraychue, Freuchequly, ete., from the Gaelic, Fraochach, heathy or
heathery, may be derived from the heathery hill situated about a (uarter
of & mile to the sonth-east of Castle Grant.

This barony first appears on record as a possession of the family
of Grant in the time of Sir Duncan Grant. In 1453, provious to his
being knighted, he is designed in a precept of sasine by Archibald
Douglas, Earl of Moray, for infefting John le Hay of Mayne in the lands
of Glenbeg and others, as “ our beloved cousin, Duncan le Graunte of
Fruychy,” and from that time until the close of the seventeenth century,
Freuchic was the designation of the chiefs of the Grants.

Sir Duncan Grant appears to have possessed only the half of the
barony of Freuchie, the other half being the property of Marjory Lude.
She, on 28th July 1473, granted a charter to her son, Patrick Grant, in
which she styles herself Lady of half the barony of Freuchie. By that
charter, Marjory Lude, in her widowhood and urgent need, for the susten-
tation of her life, pledged or wadset to her son, Patrick Grant, in return
for o payment made by him to her of six hundred merks, her lands of
Auchnarrows, Downan, Port, and Dalfour, in the barony of Freuchie and
shire of Inverness. Who Marjory Lude was, and how she obtained pos-
session of the half lands of Freuchie, has not been ascertained. The
portion of Freuchie held by Sir Duncan Grant in 1453 may have come to
him through the marriage of his father with Matilda of Glencarnie, to
whose father, Gilbert of Glencarnie, part of the lands of Freuchie appear
to have pertained.  Mention is made of & prominent part of the later
barony of Freuchie, the hds of the two Congashes, as the property
of Gilbert of Glencarnie at the close of the thirtcenth century.  About
that, time he granted to Duneann de Feryndimweht, on the narringe of the
latter to his danghter Magjory, the eastern davoch of the land of Congash,
in the holding of Abernethy, with the homage and service of the tenant
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XXXVi EARLY HISTORY OF THE BARONY OF FREUCHIE.

of his davoch land of Wester Congash.! The lands continued the property
of the Glencarnies until the death, about the year 1438, of that Gilbert
of Glencarnie whose daughter Matilda was the mother of Sir Duncan
Grant.  The lands then fell to the Crown by reason of non-entry, until, in
1464, Sir Duncan obtained himself served heir to his grandfather Gilbert
in the lands of Congash.?  Owing to an informality in this retour, by
omitting to state the time when the lands fell to the Crown, and how long
they had remained in the king’s hands, it was rendered inoperative, and
another service supplying the requived information had to he expede.
This second service, expede on 7th February 1468, was followed hy a
precept from Chancery authorising the infeftment of Sir Duncan Grant in
the lands of Congash, and in it the lands are valued at forly shillings
yearly, but in time of peace at ten merks. They are said to have been
in the hands of the Crown since the death of Gilbert of Glencarnie, his
maternal grandfather, thirty years previously, owing to the heir failing to
prosecute his claimn.?

Sir Duncan Grant of Freuchie died in 1485, and having been prede-
ceased by his eldest son, John Grant, younger of Freuchie, he wus succceded
in the lands by his grandson, also John Grant. On a precept from
Chancery, John Grant of Freuchie was, on 17th June 1489, infeft in the
half of the lunds of Ireuchie, the two Culfuichs, the two Congashes and
(ilenlochy, in the shire of Inverness, the Sheriff proceeding first to the
lands of Freuchie and then to the lands of Congash, and giving sasine
upon the ground and at the messuages theveof!

Four years later, on 4th Janunary 1493, John Grant of Freuchie
obtained from King James the Fourth a charter erecting his lands into
a barony, to be called the BAroNYy oF Frrucuik. In this charter
the King grants and confirms to John Grant of Frenchie the lands of
Freuchic and mill thereof, the two Culfoichs, Dalfour, Auchingall, the two
Congashes and mill thereof, and Glenlochy, all in the shire of Inverness,
also the fifth part of the lands of Linkwoaod, with the fifth part of the mill
thereof, the fifth part of the lands of Barmuckity, the fifth part of thoe
lands of Garbity, half of the lands of Inchbery, half of the lands of

' Vol iii. of this work, p. 7. 2 Jhid, p. 26. 3 Ihid. pp. 28, 29. 4 Ihid. p. 37.
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Ordignish, half of the lands of Mulben, and six shillings and eightpence (or
-half) of the lands of Sheriffston, all in the shire of Elgin. These lands,
the charter proceeds to narrate, belonged heritably to John Grant of
Freuchie, and were by him resigned into the King’s hands at Edinburgh,’
whereupon His Majesty, for the singular favour he bore to John Grant,
and on account of his faithful services in many ways, erected the lands
into a fice barony, to be called in all time coming the Barony of Freuchie.?
On a precept from Chancery in favour of John Grant of Freuchie, sasine
of the barony was given to him on the ground of the same on 5th February
14937

This new erection of the barony of Freuchie ditfered from the former
barony in this respect, that some of the lands of the old barony were not in
possession of the Grants of Frenchie, and, consequently, were not included
in the new crection of 1493, By this time, however, they had added
part, at least, of the half of tho old barony, possessed by Marjory Lude, to
their own portion of it. The lands of Dalfour were among those disponed
by Marjory Lude to her son, Patrick Grant, but previous to this new crec-
tion they had been acquired by the Grants of Freuchie, who included them
in the new erection of the barony in 1493. The lands of Auchnarrows,
Downan, and Port, which, as already stated, formed part of the half of the
old bavony of Freuehio possessed hy Marjory Lude, formed no part of the
later barony of Freuchie. They were purchased by the Grants of Freuchie
from James Grant of Auchernach in 1586, and shortly after their acquisi-
tion, as will afterwards be shown, were incorporated into a new erection
of the harony of Cromdale.

The remaining lands, or parts of lands, lying in the county of Elgin,
added by the charter to the barony of Freuchie, appear to have heen
detached lands possessed by the Grants, and to have been included in
the new barony for the sake of giving greater unity to the estate. None
of them are known to have formed part of the old barony.  Sheriflston and
Barmuckity were part of the lands held by Gilbert of Glencarnic from the
Faul of Moray, and were inherited by Sie Dunean Granbe in 1434, when

' Original Instrument of Resignation at Castle 3 Vol. iii. of this work, p. 41,
Cirant. 3 Original Instrument of Sasine at Castle Grant.
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King James the First granted to him, as heir of his mother, Matilda of
Glencarnie, a precept of sasine in the lands of the fifth part of the barony
of Rothes Wiseman, Barmuckity, the two Fochabers, and the half of Sherift-
ston.! But of these lands lying in the county of Elgin, thus included by
the charter of 1493 in the barony of Freuchie, it is to be remarked, that
they never afterwards appear in connection with the barony in any docu-
ment. It would seem that all these lands, at least Ovdiquish, Garbity, and
Sheriffston, were exchanged by John Grant, second Laird of Frouchie, when
his daughter Margaret married Thomas Cumming, younger of Erneside, for
the half of the lands of Mulben and Mckill Balnabrochs, in the shire of Elgin.

In 1536, when James Grant ““the Bold” was retourcd heir to his
father, John Grant of Freuchie, the barony of Freuchie comprised only such
lands as were situated in the county of Inverness, and mention is for the
firat. time made of the Castle and fortalice of Freuchie.? Before 1553, an
addition appears to have been made to the barony in the lands of Auld-
charn, which, after this date, are always enumerated among the lunds of
the barony.  On the other hand, a slight diminution in the real extent of
the barony took place in 1564 by the disposition to the Cummings of
Erneside, of the south half of Dalfour, with a sixteenth part of the north
half, Teaving so much of Dalfour in the barony as to preserve a nominal
completeness.  This disposition was in fulfilinent of & contract dated in
1508, but which had not been implemented.

The barony of Freuchie, as thus composed of the lands of Freuchie,
with castle and fortalice thereof, mills, ete., viz., the Castletown of Freuchie,
Dalfour, Auchingall, the two Culfoichs, the two Congashes, Auldchim,
and Glenlochy, was held of the Crown on the usual terms, and is stated
in 1553 and 1589 to be worth forty merks annually, and in time of peace
thirty-three merks. This was the valuation of the Crown. An old rental
of 1611 shows the value of these lunds to the fumily of Grant in the time of
King James the Sixth, with the burdens upon each davoch, and the various
payments in kind made by the tenants to the Laird® The davochs
wero rented according Lo the nature of  their soil, relative fertility,

} Vol iii, of this work, pp. 13-15, 18. 2 [hid. p. 8.
3 Fide excerpt in vol. iii. of this work, pp. 300-313.
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ete.. some paying as much as £80 Scots annually, and others less than
£10, of land maill, with corresponding sums in teind maill and vicarage,
and a grassum generally every five years. The payments in kind were
composed of a certain number of holls of multure bear, also wedders, lambs,
kids, salmon, poultry, geese, and capons, in quantities proportioned to the
respective rents.  The total amounts of rental and other money payments
in 1611 were :—Grassum, .£223, 6s. 4d. ; land maill, £494, 13s. 4d. ; teind
maill, £9, 6s. 8d.; vicarage, .£15, 4s. 4d. The rents paid in kind were
soventeen bolls of multure bewr, nineteen and a half wedders, one lamb,
twenly-four kids, thirty pounds of salmon, one hundred and seventy-nine
poultry, twenty-four geese, and twelve capons.

This barony of Freuchie did not form o compact estate. It was divided
into two portions by intervening lands.  One of these portions embraced
the lands of Freuchie, Auchingall, the two Culfoichs, and Dalfour, all of
which were contiguous to the castle of Freuchie. The other portion was
sitnated on the east side of the Spey, higher up the river, and in the
parish of Abernethy. It comprised the lunds of the two Congashes, Auld-
charn and Glenlochy, and these stretching from the Spey to Strathavon,
formed a complete section across the parish of Abernethy. The lands
which intersected the barony were those of Auchnarrows, Downan, and
Port, pertaining to Patrick Grant of Auchnarrows, the son of Marjory
Imde, but they were ultimately acquired by the Lairds of Grant.

As thus constituted, however, Freuchie continued to form o distinet,
havony and the principal possession of the Grant family until 1694, when
Indovick Grant obtained the Crown charter erccting all his lands into the
Rreaavrry or Grant, and the barony of Freuchic was absorbed in it.

Althongh the eastle or fortalice of Freuchie is not mentioned before
the year 1536 in any of the charters which have been preserved, there ean
be little doubt that in the time of Sir Duncan Girant, the first of Freuchie,
and also at an earlier period, the lands possessed a mansion-house,  In the
year 1489 Freuchie is described as the messnage.! Tt is possible that in
the older barony some other place was the principal messuage, and that
aftor the consolidation of his estates in 1493, John Grant of Freuchie chose,

¥ Vol. iii. of this work, p. 38.
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as the site of a residence, the lands from which the new barony was named.
It is more probable, however, that the lands of Freuchie were always the
principal part of the barony of Freuchie; but as the castle and fortalice
of Freuchie are first mentioned in the retour of James Grant of Freuchie,
his son, on 3d October 1536, it may be presumed that John Grant either
rebuilt his residence, or extended the edifice which then existed.

The castle of Freuchie was frequently-designated Ballachastell, which,
literally rendered, is the town of the custle.! In like manner the dominical
lands or mains of Freuchie were frequently called the lands or mains of
Ballachastell. The names were often used interchangeably. Thus James
Grant of Freuchie made his testament on 1st June 1553 at his place of
Ballachastell, and a few weeks later, on the 22d of August, it is described
a8 his castle of Freuchie. His son and successor, John Grant of Freuchie,
who was in posscssion of the barony for about thirty years, dated his
fendal documents sometimes from Freuchie, but more frequently from
Ballachastell, and the latter appears to have been the designation preferred
by succeeding Lairds until the ercction of the Regality of Grant. Then it
took its present designation from the name of its proprietors, and to this
day remains CASTLE GRANT.

As the principal residence of the family of Grant, Castle Grant has
been cherished and venerated not only by the members of the family, but
by all the name of Grant, as the home of their chief. The castle itself is
an imposing pile, reared on one of the most commanding positions in Strath-
spey. Its outlook is at once varied, extemsive, and magnilicent, over a
country which, for many miles around, owns its baronial sway. A writer
of tho eighteenth century, describing the view, says :—

“The house commands a pretty extensive and plensing landscape.
Southward, the deep forest of Abernethy, its broad dark green plain
encronching on the dusky side of the lofty Cnirmgorm, the pale rolling
cloud seizing at times its summit, equalling its peerless elevation with the
humbler hills, and the mountain anon discharging the hovering vapour in
lingering detachments, resumes its proud pre eminence, and looks down
upon its neighbours. Spread eastward lies the wide-bending enlbivated

1 1t is also sometimes spelt Balloch Castle, that is, the castle in the pass,
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plain of Cromdale, its green level border illuminated by the blue rolling
river. On the north and west an irregularly curved range of hill displays
upon its side the verdant mantle of flourishing plantation. The park
itself is of great extent, diversified with the agreeable variety of thicket,
grove and forest, cornfield and meadow ; a double line of tall trees extend
a cool shade over a long lane, by the lofty canopy of their intermingled
foliage, impervious to the summer sun and the slighter shower ; the trim
garden, the ornamented shrubbery, and several pleasant ridings, may sug-
gest a general idea of the environs of this respectable mansion, the extent
of which may be conceived by the compass occupied by the wood, nearly
four thousand acres.”!

The fabric of the castle is of various dates, one portion, called Babie's
Tower, being considerably the most ancient. Formerly, the castle was
built to face the south, and the workmanship on that side is traceable to
the fifteenth century, but at a later period, in the time of Sir Ludovick
Grant, the principal face was made to front the north, and wings were
then built out to the south. Among the internal features of the castle
may be mentioned the magnificent dining-hall, forty-seven feet in length,
twenty-seven in breadth, and of a proportional height, its walls adorned
with numerous and rare works of art, among which are many ancestral
portrnits.  Deawing-rooms, staircases, and several of the numerons bed
rooms are similarly ornamented. A list of these portraits and paintings
is given at the end of this volume.

The armoury, too, is extensive, and contains an exeellent collection of

warlike panoply, armour defonsive and weapons offensive, of modern and
remoter times. A list, dated in 1720, of the guns and other weapons in the
castle containg among others the following -

Baillie Clerk’s long gun. The gilt gnn of the famelie,

Colonel Grant’s long gun. The double barrell’d gun,

(lenmorison’s long gun. Mr. Alex™ Ogilvid's gun,

Belindalloch's eight squair gun. Pitchases eight squair gun, marked T. G,
Peter Haberon's gun, The short waipon gon,

Balindalloch'’s carved gun, My Lady Doun’s long fusie.

Litcheston’s whippe, The Dutch fusie with tho brass lock.

V Survey of the Provineo of Morny, 1708, pp. 271, 272,
VOL. 1. /
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xlii ARMOURY AT CASTLE GRANT.

Two round barrelled fusies made by The Glainar.
Smairt . . . Tannachic’s rifle .
The club marked number twelve, Threo larg brass blunderbushes,
The cartrage rifle. Two small brass blunderbushes.
Delvey's rifle. . Three iron blunderbushas.
Cuthhert’s rifle . . . A short carraben with a Highland lock.
The Huzar, nnmber nineteen. Kinmillies long gun.
Carron’s rifle . . . A Highland gun.
A rifle by Barber. Twentie-four muskets in the gun case in the
Hyland Guns, hall.
Jean Cumming. A case of pistoles, with silver mounting . . .
Seaforth’s gilt gun. The two-handed sword.
The gilt rifle. The sword of the famely.
Sir John Grant’s litle gun. Seven brod swords . . .
Alister More's gun. A syd pistoll, with Grant of that Ilk on the
The steel gun. barrell.!

An interesting inventory of the plenishing of Castle Grant, taken
about the year 1711, and estimated upon oath before two justices of
Moray, gives details of the rooms in the Castle and their furnishings.
In the “roome caled young Grantes room” there was a “bed of dark
coullered strip-stuff, lyned with red satin;” and he had also a drawing-
room. The “gilded roome” contained *“one red silk damask bed, lyned
with whyt cessnot ; . .. the gray damask roome, one gray damask silk bed,
lyned with blew satine; . . . the wester gallurie, one dark coulored cloth
bed, lyned with red cessnot; . . . the easter gullarie, one grein stuff hed ;
. . . the roome above the dressing-roome, one blew stampt worsted stuft
bed; . . . the reome above young Grantes roome, one strip hed of hemp and
worsted stuff; . . . (iellowaye’s roome, an old dark coulered cloth hed,” and
corresponding furniture in each of these rooms. There are also mentioned
the drawing-room, the dining-room, the school chamber, the ““nursarie,”
Rorie’s chamber, and Dugall’s chamber, two rooms ““in the new wark,” and
the “women house.”  Other portions of the inventory deal with general
firniture, wardrobes, bedding, napery, kitchen and pewter vessels, and
among tho silver plate are mentioned, *“ane large cup with nno cover, gifted
he the Laivd of Grant to his sone George,” o gilded bason, a gilded laver, two

' The longest gun has engraved on the barrel,  Iargest brass blunderbusses in inscribed, “Crant's
“Clerk to the Laird of Grant ;" and on one of the  pocket pistol.”
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PORTRAITS OF GRANTS AT THE CASTLE. xliii

posset cups, a gilded cup with a cover, “ane old-flashioned cup and cover,”
a porringer, “ane litle brandie cup,” with knives, forks, candlesticks, etc.'
“There is a pleasant summer p:u‘lour,." wrote Mrs. Grant of Laggun,
after a visit to the Castle in 1785, to a friend, ““ opening with a glass door
to the garden, the walls of which are entirely covered with the portraits
of those lesser gentry around, who were attached, many of them, by the

" double tie of kindred and feudal subjection. This last was rather patriarchal

sway, as they managed it. Never, surely, was power so gently used, or

* protection so gratefully acknowledged. Those endearing, though invisible

and undefinable ties, that have for generations held these people so strongly
to each other and to their chief, produce united effects, which afford one
of the most pleasing views of human nature that can be met with.”
Referring to the. portraits, she says, “The castle is a spacious, convenient,
and elegant mansion, where many heroes of the family ¢ on animated canvas
seem to frown.” Some of these are very characteristic of the amiable pro-
pensity of this family, to, cherish the inferior gentry and their hwumble
relations who ‘dwelt under their shadow.’ . .. Everything evinces an
abode where baronial pomp and hospitality still continue to linger, softened
by the milder graces of modern eleganee.” ?

And so another writer. “ Everything within and without denotes the
habitation of a chicftain, and brings to remembrance those days in which
the liead of every tribe was surrounded by his own clan. i eastle was
their fortress; his approbation was their pride; his protection was both their
duly and their interest, for in his salety their own fde was involved. T
his hall stood the hoard to which they were always weleome 5 there he sat.
with all the feelings of a futher in the midst of his children; he ncted as
their general in the day of battle; their judge in the time of peace 3 and
was at all times their friend.””

To the hospitable board of the castle not only the members of the clan
but travellers were made welcome.  In the time of John Grant, who
was Laird from 1585 till 1622, the “ penniless pilgrim” was entertained at
tho caslle during his travels in Scotland in the yew 1618, The pilgrim

¥ Original Inventory at Castle Grant. * Letters from the Mountring, vol. ii. pp. 100, 101,
T Robertron's Agrienltnral View of Inverness.shine,
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xliv VISITS OF TAYLOR THE WATER POET AND BURNS.

was John Taylor, tHe “Water Poet,” who, as explained by the editor of his
works, undertook the journcy from Loudon without any money. After
giving an account of his hunting in Braemar and Badenoch, he tells of his
arrival and entertainment at Castle Grant.

“From thence we went to a place called Balloch Castle (Ballacastle),
now Castle Grant, a fair and stately house, a worthy gentleman being the
owner' of it, called the Laird of Grant; his wife being a gentlewoman
honourably descended, being sister to the Right Honourable Earl of Athole,
and to Sir Patrick Mwrray, Knight ; she being, both inwardly and out-
wardly, plentifully adorned with the gifts of grace and nature ; so that our
cheer was more than sufficient, and yet much less than they could afford us.
There stayed there four days four earls, one lord, divers knights and
gentlemen and their servants, footmen, and horses; in every meal four
long tables furnished with all varieties; our first and second course being
threescore dishes at one board, and after that always a banquet ; and there,
if I had not forsworn wine till I came to Edinburgh, I think I had there
drunk my last.” '

During a tour in the north of Scotland in 1787, Robert Burns also
paid a short visit to the castle,

During the rebellion of 1745-46, and shortly before the battle of
Culloden, Castle Grant had the misfortune to fall into the hands of the
rebels, who occupied it for some days. Ilappily, however, no injury was
done beyond the consumption of its stores.

A remarkable relic is preserved in Castle Grant known as “ Comyn’s
skull” It is o human skull, cut in two halves, with hinges added to
make the two halves open and shut like a hox.  The skull, according to
tradition, is that of the last Comyn of Freuchie, preserved as a relic of
the traditional feuds between the Grants and the Comyns, and the final
triumph of the former.

! Works of John Taylor, the Water Poet, edited by Charles Hindley, 1872. p. 55.
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THE BARONY AND LORDSHIP OF GLENCARNIE
IN THE PARISII OF DUTHIL AND COUNTY OF INVERNESS.

Along with the barony of Frenchie, the family of Grant held, as one
“of their early possessions, the ancient lordship or barony of Glencarnie,
in the parish of Duthil. This barony, though formerly included in the
sherifidom of Tnverness, was transferved for a time to that of Elgin or
Moray, but by Act of Parliament, passed in 1870, it was restored to its
original position in Inverness-shire. The Act defines the boundary line
hetween the two counties as extending ““from the mouth of the river
Dulnan where it enters the river Spey, up the river Dulnan to the point
where the Muckrach or Findlarigg Burn enters it, thence up the Muckrach
or Findlarigg Burn to a point thercon where a stone marked  County
. Bolindary ’ has been placed, five hundred and seventy-two yards or thereby,
measuring in a straight line from the well called Fuaranahanish Well,
lying on the south side of the hill called Banmore, and from the last
mentioned point on the said Muckrach or Findlavigg Burn in a straight
line to the said well, which is @ point on the present boundary between the
counties of Tnverness and Flgin or Moray,”!

No district in the Grant country i3 known by the designation of
Clenenrnie at the present time, The Tands comprising the ancient lordship
lie, for the most part, in the parish of Duthil, and the parvochial name has,
for all purposes of utility, taken the prominence, leaving to the older
designation o significanee mainly historical. But as o historie and ancient
lordship, famons not only inits own day of greatness, but even now also for
its waalth of traditional and legendary romance, Glencarnie demands more
than a merely passing notice.

Glenkerny, Glenchernyn, Glenchairmycht, Glencarnin, from the Gaelie,
(leann « Ceatharnach, that is, the valley of the heroes, appears to have
derived its name from the use of the place by the natives in prehistorie
times, for the purposes of interment, especially of their wariors.  The

! The Inverncss and Elgin County Boundaries Act, 1870.
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xlvi NUMEROUS (‘AIRNS IN GLENCARNIE.

Scoticised namme of Glencarnie seems also a most fit designation for the
district, for as each warrior was honoured with the erection of a cairn over
the spot where he lay buried,! and as the number of these graves with their
surmounting cairns was very great, no more suitable appellation for the
district could have been invented than the Glen of Cairns, or Glencarnie.

Although the name has changed, the nature of the country is still
characteristic of its ancient designation. A leurned and observant visitor
to Duthil in 1873 has given an interesting description of the district :—

“ It was impossible to live for weeks at Curr Bridge and not sce a con-
siderable number of cairns. Close to it, indeed, there is a district called
Docharn, which probably means the Davoch of the Cairns. I did not count
the number of small cairns which are to be found on this and the adjoining

farms, but I am certainly correct when I say that there are hundreds. The
majority of them are small.  There are three, however, of great size. The

largest of these is at Tom-tigh-an-leighe—the hill of the house of the
doctor. . . . The second in size of the three great cairns, is on the top of o
knoll in the wood, just above Dochlagie. It is sixty feet in diamcter, and
nine to ten feet high.”? The third cairn is described by the writer as being
much smaller in size, and as standing ncar the old house of Inverlaidnan,
where Prince Charlie once passed a night.  Tn this cairn, human remains
were found in a stone cist. e deseribes also a peculiar cairn known as the
Granish or Grenish Circle or Ring Cairn, which “lies in the Crenish
wood, about five miles from Carr Bridge, on the way to Aviemore, on the
waest side of a small loch, ealled Loch na Carvaghean, It consists of two
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